# SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA SCA EFiled: Dec 29 2022

01:10PM EST

**Transaction ID 68763180** 

David Ballard, Warden, Mt. Olive Correctional Comples, Respondent Below, Petitioner

vs.) No. 22-720

Johnny Ray Miller, Petitioner Below, Respondent

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Benjamin Hatfield, Esquire Raleigh County Prosecuting Attorney Post Office Box 907 Beckley, West Virginia 25801

Phone: 304-255-9148

Email: Benjamin.hatfield@rcpawv.com West Virginia State Bar No. 11528

#

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court committed error by considering the present claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.
- 2. The Circuit Court committed error by concluding that trial counsel was ineffective.

## III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Johnny Ray Miller was indicted in January of 1989 on Count 1: first degree murder of his girlfriend Lorelei Reed and Count 2: commission of Count 1 by the use of a firearm. Johnny Ray Miller was convicted of both counts, without a recommendation of mercy, on August 4, 1989 following a jury trial. Thereafter, Johnny Ray Miller was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole by an order entered on November 14, 1989. Following his conviction, there was an appeal of the conviction and multiple petitions for writ of habeas corpus in different jurisdictions. The conviction was appealed, and following a remand on a discovery issue, the Supreme Court upheld the conviction. A number of petitions for writ of habeas corpus followed, including Raleigh County cases 93-HC-64-C, 02-HC-873, 06-C-632-H, and 12-C-360-B. Mr. Miller also pursued federal habeas relief (denied by Order entered on July 24, 2997), which he unsuccessfully appealed, and an action directly with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia. All of these petitions resulted in denials and confirmation of the Mr. Miller's conviction and incarceration.

The most recent petition for writ of habeas corpus, numbered 12-C-360-B, was granted by the Honorable Robert A. Burnside, Jr., by an order entered on August 31, 2022, over thirty years after Johnny Miller was convicted. That order found that trial counsel was ineffective, which induced Mr. Miller to reject a favorable plea offer, and ordered the State to re-offer the April 1989

offer of second-degree murder. The execution of that order was suspended pending the closure of the appellate window.

The State of West Virginia is seeking relief in the form of a reversal of the August 31, 2022 order granting petition for post-conviction habeas corpus, denial of the petition for post-conviction habeas corpus, and dismissal of 12-C-360.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue: The Circuit Court committed error by considering the present claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

The doctrine of res judicata precludes the Circuit Court from considering the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel. The Defendant had an initial petition for writ of habeas corpus, filed August 24, 1994, that was denied following an omnibus hearing. Any subsequent claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel is barred from consideration. The Circuit Court found that Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S.Ct. 1376 (2012) constitutes a change in law that qualifies as an exception to Res judicata that allows the Court to hear the ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

First, the State argues that *Lafler* is not a change in law because the right to effective counsel in pre-trial plea negotiations was in place prior to *Lafler*. Second, the State argues that *Lafler* is not retroactive pursuant to *State v. Kennedy (Kennedy II)*, 229 W.Va. 756, 735 S.E.2d 905 (2012).

The Supreme Court should hear this issue because it undermines the doctrine of *Res judicata* and the importance of having finality in cases for all parties, including the families of the murder victim in this case.

Issue: The Circuit Court committed error by concluding that trial counsel was ineffective.

The Circuit Court, after finding that res judicata did not bar consideration of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, proceeded to conclude that trial counsel was ineffective pursuant to

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). The State argues that this conclusion is in error because (1) there is no deficiency in counsel's performance and (2) there is insufficient evidence to conclude that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. The State argues that these conclusions were made based upon speculation and insufficient evidence.

The Supreme Court should hear this issue because it will result in a major alteration of plea negotiations. The State of West Virginia will be unable to achieve finality in cases, even through plea negotiations, because the specter of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel will always linger. Furthermore, this issue cannot be remedied through a normal plea of guilty colloquy because the evidence of potential ineffective assistance is protected by attorney-client privilege.

The ruling by the Circuit Court has far-reaching implications that, if affirmed, will result in the erosion of plea negotiations and timely resolution of criminal cases. Therefore, the State of West Virginia is respectfully asking the Supreme Court to overturn the Circuit Court's August 31, 2022 ruling.

### V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Petitioner believes that the four items listed in Rule 18 do not apply and, therefore, oral argument is necessary. Furthermore, that oral argument would be pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure because the Court below improperly applied *res judicata*, a settled area of law. Also, the primary issue before the Court is a narrow issue of law. Specifically, the issue is whether *Lafler* constitutes a change in law sufficient to constitute an exception to *res judicata*. Due to the narrow area of law, the Petitioner believes a memorandum decision would be appropriate should the Court so desire.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

Issue: The Circuit Court committed error by considering the present claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

The doctrine of *res judicata* precludes the Circuit Court from considering the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel. The Defendant had an initial petition for writ of habeas corpus, Case No. 93-HC-64, that was denied by an order entered on February 23, 1995, following an omnibus hearing. The omnibus hearing held on August 19, 1994, which included the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, discussed the very issue that the Court in this case considered.

THE PETITIONER: No, sir. And I thank you for this opportunity to – and my habeas petition being heard, and to be able to go forward in the Court.

THE COURT: Thank you very much. Well, you're entitled to that, sir. You don't need to thank me. Let me ask you one question.

THE PETITIONER: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Earlier on, Mr. Watson made reference that you were offered, or that there was an offer, of a plea to second degree murder. THE PETITIONER: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: In that regard, was that offer made to you through your attorney, Mr. Thornhill, or did he relate that to you.

THE PETITIONER: Mr. Thornhill wrote me a letter, sir, and said he needed to talk to me, that the State offered me a second degree murder charge. And, when I went to his office – but he did state in his letter he didn't think it was a particular good offer.

THE COURT: And --

THE PETITIONER: I do have the letter over there.

THE COURT: -- did you desire - are you telling me now you - you then desired to take that offer, or are you saying to me now, on second thought, you wish you would have taken that offer?

THE PETITIONER: Well, sir, to be honest with you, after the State did produce some statements from people, I'd say a week before the trial, right, that this person was turning me in and stuff like that, and I never heard nothing about it, you know, and Mr. Thornhill never had known nothing about it, you know what I'm saying?

THE COURT: Yes, sir, all right.

THE PETITIONER: And I have that discovery, that where it was late, you know, and I just – I think every one of them come in – come in within two or three days, and it seemed like, you know, they was all – you know what I'm saying – I just can't understand why it wasn't available with that.

THE COURT: I just wanted to be sure that I understand the significance of that. Have you anything else, sir.

THE PETITIONER: No. sir.

Appx. Vol. 1, p. 414-415.

This conversation was followed by cross examination about the plea offer. Thereafter, the Circuit Court denied that claim. *See Appx. Vol.* 1, p. 349-364. Thus, the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel as to the issue of plea negotiations has been previously adjudicated. Any subsequent claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel is barred from consideration.

A prior omnibus habeas corpus hearing is *res judicata* as to all matters raised and as to all matters known or which with reasonable diligence could have been known; however, an applicant may still petition the court on the following grounds: ineffective assistance of counsel at the omnibus habeas corpus hearing; newly discovered evidence; or, a change in the law, favorable to the applicant, which may be applied retroactively.

Syl pt. 4, Losh v. McKenzie, 166 W. Va. 762, 277 S.E.2d 606 (1981). The Circuit Court found that Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S.Ct. 1376 (2012), constitutes a change in law, favorable to the applicant, that can be applied retroactively, which qualifies as an exception to res judicata that allows the Court to hear the ineffective assistance of counsel claim. First, the Petitioner asserts that Lafler is not a change in law because the right to effective counsel in pre-trial plea negotiations was established law prior to Lafler.

McMann v. Richardson was a decision by the Supreme Court holding that a prisoner's plea based upon competent advice of counsel was an intelligent plea not open to collateral attack on the basis that counsel may have misjudged the admissibility of the confession. In making that decision the Supreme Court discussed the expectation of competent and effective representation during the plea negotiation process.

That a guilty plea must be intelligently made is not a requirement that all advice offered by the defendant's lawyer withstand retrospective examination in a post-conviction hearing. Courts continue to have serious differences among themselves on the admissibility of evidence, both with respect to the proper standard by which the facts are to be judged and with respect to the application of that standard to particular facts. That this Court might hold a defendant's confession inadmissible in evidence, possibly by a divided vote, hardly justifies a conclusion that the

defendant's attorney was incompetent or ineffective when he thought the admissibility of the confession sufficiently probable to advise a plea of guilty.

In our view a defendant's plea of guilty based on reasonably competent advice is an intelligent plea not open to attack on the ground that counsel may have misjudged the admissibility of the defendant's confession. Whether a plea of guilty therefore vulnerable when motivated unintelligent and confession erroneously thought admissible in evidence depends as an initial matter, not on whether a court would retrospectively consider counsel's advice to be right or wrong, but on whether that advice was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. On the one hand, uncertainty is inherent in predicting court decisions; but on the other hand defendants facing felony charges are entitled to the effective assistance of competent counsel. Beyond this we think the matter, for the most part, should be left to the good sense and discretion of the trial courts with the admonition that if the right to counsel guaranteed by the Constitution is to serve its purpose, defendants cannot be left to the mercies of incompetent counsel, and that judges should strive to maintain proper standards of performance by attorneys who are representing defendants in criminal cases in their courts.

McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 770-771 (1970). Following the Strickland v. Washington ruling, the Supreme Court made a more specific ruling that the right to effective counsel applies to the plea process in Hill v. Lockhart.

Although our decision in *Strickland* v. *Washington* dealt with a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in a capital sentencing proceeding, and was premised in part on the similarity between such a proceeding and the usual criminal trial, the same two-part standard seems to us applicable to ineffective-assistance claims arising out of the plea process.

Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 57 (1985).

Lafler took the above-mentioned caselaw and applied it to a set of facts where a plea is rejected and then a conviction is obtained at trial. The requirement of having effective assistance in plea negotiations was already in place well before the Lafler decision. The ruling in Lafler made new law only as to the remedy. McMann and Hill show that Lafler did not constitute a change in law sufficient to be an exception to the res judicata doctrine. If Lafler stands for any change in law, it establishes the remedy in the event there is ineffective assistance of counsel during the plea process. That was that the State must re-offer the previously rejected offer. Thereafter, the trial

court would have a number of options available to it when deciding whether to accept the plea. Defendants have had the right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea process since at least 1970 and Lafler only made a change in law as to the remedy. Therefore, the conclusion by the Circuit Court that Lafler constitutes a change in law sufficient to satisfy the Losh exception to res judicata is incorrect and should not have been used to overcome the doctrine of res judicata.

Second, the Petitioner asserts that *Lafler* is not retroactive pursuant to *State v. Kennedy* (*Kennedy II*), 229 W.Va. 756, 735 S.E.2d 905 (2012). The Court below applied the *Blake-Kennedy* retroactivity factors to the *Lafler* case.

The criteria to be used in deciding the retroactivity of new constitutional rules of criminal procedure are: (a) the purpose to be served by the new standards, (b) the extent of the reliance by law enforcement authorities on old standards, and (c) the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the new standards. Thus, a judicial decision in a criminal case is to be given prospective application only if: (a) It established a new principle of law; (b) its retroactive application would retard its operation; and (c) its retroactive application would produce inequitable results.

State v. Blake, 197 W. Va. 700, 702, 478 S.E.2d 550, 552 (1996). The Court below committed error by concluding that Lafler is retroactive. It was incorrect to conclude that Lafler constitutes a new standard as required by the Blake-Kennedy analysis. As discussed above, Lafler is not a new principle of law. Instead, Lafler provides a remedy for situations where counsel is ineffective during the plea negotiation process. Therefore, Lafler is not a new constitutional rule of criminal procedure, which should prohibit the Court from even evaluating the criteria listed in Blake.

The Petitioner also asserts that the retroactive application of Lafler as performed by the lower Court would produce an inequitable result. The application by the Circuit Court undermines the doctrine of res judicata and is functionally setting aside a murder conviction that is over thirty (30) years old. The conviction has been reviewed on appeal and multiple petitions for writ of habeas corpus, at least one of which included the same issue raised in this petition. This case is a

perfect example of the importance of *res judicata*. This matter was previously adjudicated and is now being re-examined. This re-examination is being attempted after the death of defense counsel and has re-opened old wounds that the family of the victim has worked to heal over the last thirty years. The family of the victim has been retraumatized by the Circuit Court's ruling that could possibly result in the release of Mr. Miller from the Division of Corrections, if upheld. This cannot be deemed an equitable result as it is essentially rewarding Mr. Miller for continuously filing petitions on issues that have already been adjudicated.

# Issue: The Circuit Court committed error by concluding that trial counsel was ineffective.

The standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel has been established in Syl. Pts. 5 and 6, State v. Miller, 459 S.E.2d 114, 117–18 (W.Va. 1995), applying Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984):

- 5. In the West Virginia courts, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are to be governed by the two-pronged test established in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984): (1) Counsel's performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different.
- 6. In reviewing counsel's performance, courts must apply an objective standard and determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the broad range of professionally competent assistance while at the same time refraining from engaging in hindsight or second-guessing of trial counsel's strategic decisions. Thus, a reviewing court asks whether a reasonable lawyer would have acted, under the circumstances, as defense counsel acted in the case at issue.

"Actual ineffectiveness claims alleging a deficiency in attorney performance are subject to the general requirement that defendant affirmatively prove prejudice," and the burden of proving this prejudice lies squarely on the petitioner. *Strickland* at 693. Recognizing that "[r]epresentation is an art," the *Strickland* Court held that "[i]t is not enough for the [petitioner] to show that the [alleged] errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding," and even errors

that may have some effect on the proceeding do not necessarily undermine "the reliability of the result of the proceeding." *Id*.

Here, Miller fails to meet his burden of proving each of the two prongs of the test for determining claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, he fails to prove that counsel's "performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness" and secondly, that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different." Syl. Pt. 5, *Miller*, citing *Strickland*, supra. Furthermore, this standard must be applied objectively to

determine whether, in light of all of the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the broad range of professionally competent assistance while at the same time refraining from engaging in hindsight or second-guessing of trial counsel's strategic decisions. Thus, a reviewing court asks whether a reasonable lawyer would have acted, under the circumstances, as defense counsel acted in the case at issue.

Tex S. v. Pszczolkowski, 778 S.E.2d 694, 704 (W.Va. 2015); citing State v. Miller, 459 S.E.2d at 117–18; see also Syl. Pt. 19, State v. Thomas, 203 S.E.2d 445, 449 (W.Va. 1974). Thus, as addressed in Thomas, counsel's conduct will not be deemed ineffective "unless no reasonably qualified defense attorney would have so acted" in defending Miller. In sum, this high standard leads to West Virginia courts to "presume strongly that counsel's performance was reasonable and adequate." Pszczolkowski at 705; citing Miller at 127 (emphasis in original).

To connect the first prong of *Strickland* with the test of whether that alleged deficiency of performance changed the outcome of the proceeding, the Court in *State v. LaRock*, 470 S.E.2d 613, 628, n. 22 (W.Va. 1996) held that "[c]ounsel is constitutionally ineffective only if performance below professional standards caused the defendant to lose what he otherwise probably would have won." In other words, "the determinative issue is not whether the defendant's

counsel was ineffective, hut whether he was thoroughly ineffective so that defeat was 'snatched from the jaws of victory." *Id*.

In this case, the evidence is insufficient to conclude that the trial counsel was ineffective by advising Mr. Miller to not accept the plea offer from the state. First, the letter from counsel to Mr. Miller simply says that the offer is "not a particularly good offer." Appx. Vol. 1, p. 0431. It does not advise Mr. Miller to reject the offer. Thereafter the only evidence is the self-serving statement of Mr. Miller at the haheas hearing. The Court's conclusion that he was credible in remembering counsel's statements is in error due to the time that had passed and the failure to focus on the statements by Mr. Miller at the 1994 hearing due to their narrative form.

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