IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA DOCKET NO. 22-720 SCA EFiled:

SCA EFiled: Feb 09 2023 10:21AM EST Transaction ID 69107757

DAVID BALLARD, WARDEN, MT. OLIVE CORRECTIONAL COMPLEX,

Petitioner and Respondent-below,

v.

JOHNNY RAY MILLER,

Respondent and Petitioner-below.

Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Raleigh County, West Virginia

(Civil Action No. 12-C-360)

Respondent Johnny Ray Miller's Response to Petitioner's Brief

Counsel for Respondent, Johnny Ray Miller, Kevin J. Robinson, Esquire

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Raleigh County was correct in granting Respondent's Johnny Ray Miller's Petition for Habeaus Corpus because Mr. Miller received ineffective assistance of trial counsel which induced him to reject a favorable plea offer which was followed by a trial that produced a less favorable result than would have been obtained had he accepted the plea offer. Respondent's trial counsel, Warren Thornhill, advised him that the advantageous plea offer of second degree murder was not a good plea deal. Mr. Thornhill advised Mr. Miller that the state did not have enough evidence to convict him of second degree murder and that he was too intoxicated to form the deliberate intention to kill. Mr. Thornhill further advised Mr. Miller that he would be either acquitted or convicted merely of involuntary manslaughter, a misdemeanor. This was the decisive factor in determining to accept Mr. Thornhill's advice in rejecting the advantageous plea bargain. However, it was evident from the pre-trial transcripts and the trial transcripts that trial counsel did not do any investigation into this matter before he told Mr. Miller not to take the plea to second degree murder. Mr. Thornhill's advice was unreasonable and the decision of the lower court should be affirmed.

The lower court correctly held that *res judicata* does not apply to Mr. Miller's claims because *Lafler v. Cooper*, 132 S.Ct. 1376 (2012) was a change in law favorable to Mr. Miller. The lower court also correctly held that Mr. Miller's prior habeas counsel was also ineffective which can give rise to successive petitions.

The lower court also did not err by finding that trial counsel was ineffective. Trial Counsel's advice to Mr. Miller not to take the plea deal was deficient and fell below the objective standard of reasonableness. No reasonable attorney would have advised his client to reject an advantageous plea offer when the admissible evidence in the case was very strong if not overwhelming.

The record is also devoid of any evidence that the Circuit Court would not have accepted Mr. Miller's second degree murder plea. Furthermore, protestations of innocence do not prove that Mr. Miller would not have accepted a guilty plea.

In addition, zero evidence was put forth by Mr. Thornhill at trial indicating that this murder was an accident and that Mr. Miller was too intoxicated to form the intent to murder, yet trial counsel told Mr. Miller not to take a plea to second degree murder. If one were to rely on this defense, at least some shred of evidence should have been put forth by trial counsel at trial.

None of the witnesses who testified at the preliminary hearing, pre-trial motions or trial

testified that Mr. Miller was grossly intoxicated. As a matter of fact, the record is devoid of any evidence of gross intoxication by Mr. Miller. Furthermore, intoxication is not a complete defense to the chargers and would have only reduced his crime to second degree murder. The exact crime trial counsel stated was not a good plea deal.

It is clear from the letter from trial counsel and the trial transcripts that trial counsel gave Mr. Miller ineffective advice and the Mr. Miller relied on this advice to his detriment by being convicted of first degree murder and serving a life sentence without the possibility of parole. Mr. Thornhill was clearly ineffective during the plea process and the decision of the lower court should be affirmed.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

It is Respondent's position that oral argument under W.Va. Rev. R.A.P. Rule 18(a) is not necessary in the case at hand, unless the Court determines that other issues arising upon the record should be addressed. If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for argument and disposition by memorandum decision under Rule 19.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR BY CONSIDERING THE PRESENT CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The Petitioner argues in their brief that the Circuit Court erred in granting Johnny Ray Miller's Petition for Post-Conviction Habeas Corpus by considering claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. However, the lower court correctly held that Respondent Johnny Ray Miller's claims are not barred by *res judicata* and that he did receive ineffective assistance of counsel during the plea bargaining stage.

a. The lower court correctly held that *res judicata* does not bar consideration of the present claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

The lower court correctly concluded that *res judicata* does not apply to Mr. Miller's previous habeas petitions because *Lafler v. Cooper*, 132 S.Ct. 1376 (2012) was a change in law favorable to Mr. Miller. It has long been held that a prior omnibus habeas corpus hearing is *res judicata* ... however, applicant may still petition the court on the following grounds: *ineffective assistance of counsel at omnibus habeas corpus hearing*; newly discovered evidence; *or change in law, favorable to applicant, which may be applied retroactively. Losh v. McKenzie*, 166 W.Va. 762, 277 S.E.2d 606 (1981), followed by *Markley v. Coleman*, 215 W.Va. 729, 601 S.E.2d 49 (2004). Mr. Miller's current habeas petition is not *res judicata* for two reasons: (1) *Lafler* is a change in law favorable to Mr. Miller and (2) Mr. Miller's previous omnibus habeas counsel was ineffective.

b. The Lower Court correctly found that *Lafler* is a change in law favorable to the applicant.

All criminal defendants enjoy a constitutional right to the assistance of counsel for their defense. U.S. CONST. amend. VI, XIV. As envisioned by the Sixth Amendment, the right to counsel protects the right to the *effective assistance* of counsel. Accordingly, in West Virginia, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are to be governed by the two pronged test established in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 688 (1984):

(1) Counsel's performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different.

The two prongs in the test are considered the performance prong and the prejudice prong.

However, the decision in *Lafler* has reshaped *Strickland*. The lower court correctly held that *Lafler* modified both the performance and prejudice prongs of *Strickland* in its finding that the right

to effective assistance of counsel extended to the pre-trial plea negotiation process and that the resulting prejudice consists of an conviction at trial upon which the applicant is sentenced more severely than if he had accepted the plea offer which prejudice is not cured "[e]ven if the trial itself is free of constitutional flaw." *Lafler* at 1386. (Appendix at p. 12)

The lower court also correctly found that *Lafler* authorizes a new remedy by which the State is ordered to "reoffer the plea agreement." If accepted, "the state trial court can … [determine] whether to vacate the convictions and resentence the respondent according to the plea agreement …" and other plea related alternatives. This remedy benefits the applicant because it allows him to accept the plea offer rather than risk a new conviction on retrial. *Lafler* at 1391.

The modifications *Lafler* made to *Strickland* apply to Mr. Miller's case. Mr. Miller was prejudiced by his conviction at trial because his counsel advised him not to take the plea offer of second degree murder with a sentence of 5-18 years imprisonment. Mr. Miller should now be afforded the remedy of reoffering the original plea deal.

c. The Petitioner's argument that *Lafler* is not retroactive pursuant to *State v*. *Kennedy* (Kennedy II) is misguided.

The Petitioner argues *Lafler* is not retroactive pursuant to *State v. Kennedy (Kennedy II)*, 229 W.Va. 756, 735 S.E.2d 905 (2012). Particularly, the Petitioner argues that *Lafler* is not a new principle of law, but instead provides a remedy for situations where counsel is ineffective during the plea negotiation process. However, this argument is misguided as the lower court correctly applied the *Blake-Kennedy* analysis to *Lafler* to certify its retroactivity.

The *Blake-Kennedy* retroactivity analysis is found in Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Blake*, 197 W.Va. 700, 478 S.E.2d 550 (1996):

The criteria to be used in deciding the retroactivity of new constitutional rules of criminal procedure are: (a) the purpose to be served by new standards, (b) the extent of the reliance by law enforcement authorities on old standards, and (c) the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the new standards. Thus, a judicial decision in a criminal case is to be given prospective application only if: (a) it established a new principle of law; (b) its retroactive application would retard its operation; and (c) its retroactive application would produce inequitable results. *Kennedy II*, 775.

The lower court correctly applied each of these factors to the *Lafler* rule. For instance, the lower court correctly found that the purpose of the *Lafler* rule is to extend the *Strickland* ineffective assistance criteria to the pretrial plea negotiation stage. (Appendix at p. 13) As such, *Lafler* focuses entirely on the effectiveness of counsel during plea negotiations. (*Id.*) Moreover, a *Lafler* type ineffectiveness of counsel during plea negotiations is not cured by a trial free of constitutional error.

The lower court also found that retroactive application of the *Lafler* rule would have no discernible impact on law enforcement. (*Id.* at 14) The *Lafler* impact on trial procedure would just be a pre-trial inquiry into the plea offer, if any, made by the prosecution and the confirmation that the offer had been communicated by counsel to the defendant and that the defendant chose to reject the offer. (*Id.*) This should not be a huge burden on law enforcement when it conducts its investigations. (*Id.*) Quite frankly, this should be performed in every criminal case from felony to misdemeanors.

Also, *Lafler* would not place a significant burden on the court system. For instance, the lower court correctly noted that the remedy of a successful *Lafler* claim is not a new trial with the necessity to locate records and witnesses from years past, but rather the rejected plea to be offered again. (*Id.*)

d. The overturning of Mr. Miller's murder conviction is not inequitable.

Petitioner also argues that overturning Mr. Miller's trial conviction would be an inequitable result. This argument is also faulty. Most criminal defendants rely heavily on their attorneys' advice when making the decision to plea, in the same way that patients rely on their doctors' advice about medical treatment. That is why it is imperative that counsel give their client's adequate and competent advice when a plea offer is made to their client.

It is not inequitable to overturn a conviction, just because a conviction is over 30 years old. The interest is a fair administration of justice. The fact of the matter is that the plea was offered to Mr. Miller and he was given ineffective advice to reject the plea offer. Denying Mr. Miller postconviction relief would be inequitable. Conventional notions of finality of litigation have no place where life or liberty is at stake and infringement of constitutional rights is alleged. Therefore, the ruling of the lower court should be upheld.

e. Mr. Miller's habeas counsel was also ineffective which can give rise to successive petitions.

As stated before, a prior omnibus habeas corpus hearing is *res judicata* ... however, an applicant may still petition court on the following grounds: ineffective assistance of counsel at omnibus habeas corpus hearing; newly discovered evidence; or change in law, favorable to applicant, which may be applied retroactively. *Losh v. McKenzie*, 166 W.Va. 762, 277 S.E.2d 606 (1981), followed by *Markley v. Coleman*, 215 W.Va. 729, 601 S.E.2d 49 (2004). Mr. Miller may bring this habeas petition not only because *Lafler* was a favorable change in law, but also because the lower court also found the Mr. Miller's habeas counsel was also ineffective.

An adjunct to the constitutional right to counsel on the initial appeal is the constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel on appeal. *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387 (1985)(right to effective

assistance of counsel applies on an appeal as of right). The *Strickland* standard applies to claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. On the performance prong, the petitioner must, "show that [appellate] counsel was objectively unreasonable, see *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-691, in failing to find arguable issues to appeal-that is, that counsel unreasonably failed to discover nonfrivolous issues and to file a merits brief raising them." *Smith v. Robbins*, 528 U.S. 259, 285 (2000).

On the prejudice prong, the petitioner, "must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's [error], he would have prevailed on his appeal." *Smith* at 285. In this matter, but for habeas counsel's errors, Mr. Miller would have prevailed in his prior habeas hearings.

For example, the lower court was correct in ruling that habeas counsel was ineffective in allowing Mr. Miller to present his habeas testimony in narrative form. (Appendix at p. 14) As noted by the Honorable Judge Robert Burnside, Jr., one of the problems with presenting evidence in narrative form is that it does not allow for an adequate telling of the situation. (*Id.* at 18) A situation which is very important to a matter. Furthermore, it results in a disorganized and unclear presentation of the testimony. Which was actually the case in Mr. Miller's previous petitions.

It was never made clear in his previous habeas petitions that the major issue with Mr. Miller's case was that his trial counsel gave him ineffective advice to reject the advantageous plea offer. The ineffectiveness of Mr. Miller's trial counsel at the plea stage was mainly considered an afterthought during Mr. Miller's omnibus habeas hearing. In fact, the subject was only touched on briefly. For instance, Mr. Miller's prior habeas counsel argued the following during an evidentiary hearing in front of Judge Ashworth:

And finally, I will address this <u>very briefly</u>, Mr. Miller is alleging that counsel was ineffective when he told him not to accept the State's offer to plea to second degree murder. Mr. Miller states to me that Mr. Thornhill did not particularly discuss this at length with him, other than he just thought it was a bad deal, and Mr. Miller trusted his judgment on that. <u>Again, a matter of</u>

<u>trial tactics</u>, but Mr. Miller alleges that was ineffective. (See. P. 39 lines 14-21 attached hereto as Exhibit 9).

As one can analyze from habeas counsel's argument, only a brief amount of time was spent on the ineffectiveness of Mr. Thornhill during the plea bargaining stage. The pre-trial decision on whether to plead guilty is perhaps the most serious choice a defendant can make in a criminal prosecution. See *U.S. v. Gordon*, 156 F.3d 376, 380 (2nd Cir. 1998). This should have been the main focus of the omnibus habeas hearing. However, it was not given much consideration.

In addition, failure to call trial counsel as a witness also made habeas counsel ineffective. (Appendix at p. 18). This is also a very serious issue. Mr. Miller's habeas counsel should have called Mr. Thornhill to the stand during the omnibus hearing to testify about the communications between Mr. Thornhill and Mr. Miller concerning the plea offer. One question omnibus habeas counsel could have asked of Mr. Thornhill was why he told his client in a letter not to take a plea deal before even discussing it with him. This failure to call trial counsel has resulted in Petitioner being able to argue that Mr. Miller is relying on his own self-serving testimony in this habeas.

As stated before, according to *Losh v. McKenzie*, 166 W.Va. 762, 277 S.E.2d 606 (1981), omnibus habeas corpus hearing decisions are final unless they address one of the following narrow exceptions, *ineffective assistance of counsel at the omnibus habeas corpus hearing*, newly discovered evidence *or a change in the law favorable to the applicant*, *which may be applied retroactively*. Quite frankly, if more time and argument was put into the ineffective assistance argument at the plea negotiation stage during the omnibus hearing, this issue would have already been properly ruled upon. Ineffective assistance of counsel during the plea negotiations was not properly argued before the court in Mr. Miller's prior omnibus habeas corpus hearing. In addition,

Mr. Miller's habeas counsel failed to call Mr. Thornhill to the stand to testify about his handling of the plea offer. As such, Mr. Miller's claims are not *res judicata*.

II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR BY FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE.

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